#### **Brigham Young University Law School**

### **BYU Law Digital Commons**

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs (2007-)

2017

### Heartwood Home Health & Hospice, LLC, Plaintiff/Appellant, v. Rita Huber and Glenna Molyneux, Defendants/Appellees: Brief of **Appellee**

**Utah Court of Appeals**

#### **JURISDICTION**

The district court entered a final judgment in this matter on February 15, 2017. (R. at 978). Heartwood Home Health & Hospice, LLC, appealed this judgment to the Utah Supreme Court by timely filing a Notice of Appeal with the district court on March 13, 2017. (R. at 985). On June 12, 2017, the Utah Supreme Court assigned the appeal to the Utah Court of Appeals. (R. at 1052). Therefore, this Court has jurisdiction over the appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(j).

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the district court erred when it imposed sanctions against Heartwood pursuant to Rule 11 based on its determination that Heartwood had failed to produce sufficient facts to withstand the defendants' summary judgment motion, even though Heartwood had a good faith belief that there was significant circumstantial evidence to support its claims. (R. at 585).

The standard of review for evaluating the imposition of Rule 11 sanctions involves a three-tiered approach: "(1) findings of fact are reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard; (2) legal conclusions are reviewed under the correction of error standard; and (3) the type and amount of sanction to be imposed is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard." *Morse v. Packer*, 1999 UT 5, ¶ 10, 973 P.2d 422 (citing *Barnard v. Sutliff*, 846 P.2d 1229, 1234 (Utah 1992)).

2. Whether the district court erred when it entered a summary judgment dismissing Heartwood's claims against Ms. Huber and Ms. Molyneux based on the district

court's determination that Heartwood failed to present sufficient evidence to support such claims. (R. at 472).

Summary judgment is appropriate when the evidence shows that there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. *Federate Capital Corp. v. Conor Libby*, 2016 UT 41, ¶ 7, 384 P.3d 221. Because a summary judgment challenge presents only legal issues, Utah appellate courts review the grant of summary judgment for correctness. *Id*.

#### PERTINENT STATUTES AND RULES

Rule 11, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, a copy of which is included as part of the addendum to this brief.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### I. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS IN THE DISTRICT COURT

Heartwood commenced this action on November 1, 2012 when it filed a complaint in Utah's Third District Court against defendants Rita Huber and Glenna Molyneux (collectively "the defendants") claiming that the defendants had (i) breached their employment contracts with Heartwood, (ii) breached certain fiduciary duties owed to Heartwood, and (iii) tortuously interfered with contracts between Heartwood and its hospice care patients. (R. at 13). The complaint alleged that the defendants were both health care workers who had once worked for Heartwood and then subsequently began working for Heartwood's competitor, Good Shepherd Home Care and Hospice, Inc. ("Good Shepherd"). (R. at 14-19). All of Heartwood's claims were based on allegations

that the defendants, after leaving their employment with Heartwood, began using Heartwood's patient contact information to contact Heartwood's patients and to persuade them to switch to Good Shepherd for their hospice care. (R. at 13-26).

On October 15, 2013, almost one year after the case was commenced, the defendants served Heartwood with a Motion for Rule 11 Sanctions (R. at 440) in which they demanded that Heartwood withdraw its complaint on the grounds Heartwood had "no factual support for any of its claims against these Defendants." (R. at 445). As part of their motion, the defendants further stated that "[i]t is anticipated that the claims against these Defendants will be dismissed in response to the motion for summary judgment which will follow if Plaintiff chooses not to move the court to dismiss its claims against these Defendants." (R. at 446). However, the defendants did not immediately file their Rule 11 motion with the court. They instead served the motion on Heartwood in accordance with the Rule 11 "safe harbor" provision.<sup>1</sup>

After being served with the defendants' Rule 11 motion, Heartwood declined to withdraw its complaint. As a result, defendants filed a summary judgment motion on November 8, 2013 in which they sought the dismissal of Heartwood's claims against them. (R. at 297). Defendants also filed their Rule 11 motion with district court on this same day.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See Utah R.Civ. P. 11(c)(1)(A) (Rule 11 motion "shall not be filed with or presented to the court unless, within 21 days after service of the motion (or such other period as the court may prescribe), the challenged paper ... is not withdrawn or appropriately corrected.")

(R. at 440). The parties then agreed to stay any ruling on defendants' Rule 11 motion until after the district court ruled on the defendants' summary judgment motion. (R. at 506).

On February 25, 2014, the district court held a hearing on defendants' summary judgment motion. (R. at 554). At the conclusion of the hearing, the district court granted defendants' motion for the reasons stated in a written decision, dated March 11, 2014. (R. at 584). Based on the district court's ruling, the defendants formally filed their Rule 11 motion on February 25, 2014. (R. at 555).

After further briefing was completed, the district court held a hearing on defendants' Rule 11 motion on April 21, 2014. (R. at 642). The district court ultimately issued an Order in which it concluded that Heartwood had violated Rule 11 by continuing to pursue its claims against the defendants after being served with defendants' Rule 11 motion. (R. at 679-85). As part of its decision, the district court ordered Heartwood to reimburse defendants for the reasonable attorney's fees they incurred in defending against Heartwood's claims "after it became clear that the claims lacked evidentiary support and legal basis." (R. at 683). On August 21, 2014, the district court issued a subsequent Order in which it determined that defendants were entitled to receive reimbursement from Heartwood in the amount of \$10,528.50 for their attorneys' fees. (R. at 718).

On September 19, 2014, Heartwood appealed the district's decision to impose Rule 11 sanctions to this Court. However, this Court determined that it lacked jurisdiction to consider the appeal. *See Heartwood Home Health & Hospice v. Huber*, 2016 UT App 183 at ¶ 13. This determination was based on a retroactive application of the Utah Supreme

Court's decision in *Migliore v. Livingston Financial*, *LLC*, 2015 UT 9, 347 P.3d 394, in which the Supreme Court held that an order imposing Rule 11 sanctions was not a "collateral" matter that could be appealed independently from the underlying case. Since Heartwood's claims against defendants Merrill B. Nielson and Good Shepherd Home Care & Hospice, Inc. were still pending in the district court at the time, this Court concluded that it lacked jurisdiction to hear the appeal regarding Rule 11 sanctions.

On February 15, 2017, the district court entered a final judgment that resolved all of Heartwood's claims against the various defendants. Heartwood subsequently filed a timely Notice of Appeal on March 13, 2017.

#### II. RELEVANT FACTS

#### A. Background

Heartwood is a licensed home health care agency and hospice that offers care to elderly and homebound patients who need a wide range of skilled medical services from qualified medical professionals and various services from home health aides. (R. at 14, 40).

In approximately 2000/2001, Heartwood hired defendant Glenna Molyneux for the position of home health aide. As a home health aide, Ms. Molyneux was responsible for providing personal care to patients in their homes, including bathing, meal preparation, minor housekeeping, etc. (R. at 473).

On March 26, 2012, Heartwood hired defendant Merrill Nielson, R.N.,<sup>2</sup> for its Director of Nursing position. As the Director of Nursing, Mr. Nielson was responsible for supervising all of Heartwood's nursing staff and aids. If needed, Mr. Nielson would also have direct contact with some of Heartwood's patients in their homes. (R. at 473).

In approximately April 2012, Heartwood hired defendant Rita Huber, R.N., for the position of nurse case manager. As a nurse case manager, Ms. Huber was responsible for coordinating her patients' care with Heartwood's physicians, social workers and home health aides. (R. at 473).

As a condition of their employment with Heartwood, both Ms. Molyneux and Ms. Huber signed a document entitled "CONFIDENTIALITY/NON-DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT." Both of these Confidentiality/Non-Disclosure Agreements stated, in part, as follows:

In order for HEARTWOOD HOME HEALTH AND HOSPICE to be successful in providing top quality care to people, we must have the confidence and trust of the people we work with. Confidentiality is essential if we are to be worthy of this trust....

\* \* \*

Knowledge of employees and patients is specifically the privilege of your employment here. If your employment should end with HEARTWOOD HOME HEALTH AND HOSPICE, you are prohibited to contact any employee, patient, or other professional relationship that you have that was a result of being an employee of HEARTWOOD HOME HEALTH AND HOSPICE....

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Mr. Nielson is named as a defendant in Heartwood's Complaint. However, he did not join Ms. Huber and Ms. Molyneux's Rule 11 motion and therefore he is not a party to this appeal.

(R. at 474).

#### **B.** Heartwood's Decision to File the Lawsuit.

On Saturday, October 20, 2012, Heartwood's owner, Lee Vasic, contacted the law firm Jenson & Guelker, PLLC, via telephone regarding concerns that Heartwood's former Director of Nursing, Merrill Nielson, was violating a confidentiality and non-solicitation agreement that he had signed with Heartwood. (R. at 613). During this conversation with counsel, Mr. Vasic explained that Mr. Nielson had resigned from Heartwood on October 11, 2012 and had started working for Heartwood's competitor, Good Shepherd Home Care & Hospice. (*Id.*). The very next week, Heartwood had a high number of its hospice care patients transfer their care from Heartwood to Good Shepherd. (*Id.*).

During this conversation, Mr. Vasic stated that he also had a video of Mr. Nielson from the day Mr. Nielson resigned from Heartwood showing Mr. Nielson making copies of medical records. (R. at 613). In addition, Mr. Vasic stated that a number of Heartwood's employees had reported seeing Mr. Nielson travelling in a Good Shepherd van in the vicinity of Heartwood's patients. (*Id.*). Based on these facts, Mr. Vasic believed that Mr. Nielson had copied patient contact information from Heartwood and then used that information to visit Heartwood's patients in an effort to have them transfer their care from Heartwood to Good Shepherd. (*Id.*). Finally, Mr. Vasic stated that Mr. Nielson's actions were done in violation of a confidentiality and non-solicitation agreement that Mr. Nielson had signed with Heartwood. (R. at 613-14).

On Monday, October 22, 2012, Mr. Vasic scheduled a face-to-face meeting with

Heartwood's attorneys to discuss his concerns regarding Mr. Nielson. During this meeting, Mr. Vasic revealed that one of Heartwood's home health aides, Glenna Molyneux, had resigned from Heartwood the previous Friday (October 19, 2012) and that she had also gone to work for Good Shepherd. (R. at 614). Mr. Vasic also explained that during the four days since Ms. Molyneux had left Heartwood, four of the patients she had treated for Heartwood had transferred their services over to Good Shepherd. (*Id.*).

Given the close proximity of time between the date of Ms. Molyneux's departure and the dates the foregoing patients transferred to Good Shepherd, Mr. Vasic concluded that Ms. Molyneux had also contacted her patients in order to persuade them to leave Heartwood and to follow her to Good Shepherd. (R. at 614). Mr. Vasic further explained that Ms. Molyneux had also signed the confidentiality and non-solicitation agreement set forth above. (*Id.*)

During their meeting with Mr. Vasic, Heartwood's attorneys inquired into why Ms. Molyneux and Mr. Nielson may have gone to work for Good Shepherd, as opposed to some other hospice agency. Mr. Vasic explained that one of Heartwood's former nurses, Rita Huber, had left Heartwood in July 2012 to begin working for Good Shepherd. (R. at 614-15). Mr. Vasic stated that he believed Ms. Huber had persuaded Ms. Molyneux and Mr. Nielson to begin working for Good Shepherd. This belief was based on the fact that Ms. Huber had lunch with several employees of Heartwood, including multiple lunches with Mr. Nielson, during the first few weeks after she began working for Good Shepherd. (*Id.*). Mr. Vasic also explained that like Mr. Nielson and Ms. Molyneux, Ms. Huber had also

signed the aforementioned confidentiality and non-solicitation agreement which precluded her from contacting her former co-workers at Heartwood. (*Id.*).

On Monday, October 22, 2012, and based on the foregoing information, Heartwood's attorneys drafted a cease and desist letter to Good Shepherd which requested that Good Shepherd advise Ms. Molyneux, Ms. Huber and Mr. Nielson to cease contacting Heartwood's patients and its staff. The letter was faxed and hand-delivered to Good Shepherd's owner, Scott Jolley. (R. at 615).

On Tuesday, October 23, 2012, Mr. Vasic informed Heartwood's attorneys that Heartwood had received another transfer request that day from one of the patients Ms. Molyneux had treated while she worked for Heartwood in which the patient stated that she was transferring to Good Shepherd. (R. at 615). Mr. Vasic also provided his attorneys with additional information which strongly suggested that Ms. Molyneux, Ms. Huber and Mr. Nielson were attempting to persuade Heartwood's patients to follow them to Good Shepherd. For example:

a. On October 13, 2102 one of Heartwood's nursing aides reported that she was visiting a patient when she encountered Merrill Nielson and Glenna Molyneux in the patient's home wearing their Good Shepherd uniforms. The two immediately left the home, but not before they left a Good Shepherd business card and refrigerator magnet with the patient. The nursing aide explained to the patient that Ms. Molyneux and Mr. Nielson had quit Heartwood to begin working for another company. This patient decided to remain with Heartwood. (R. at 615).

- b. Heartwood's chaplain, Wayne Bippes, reported that he had spoken with one of Heartwood's patients during the week of October 14, 2012, who stated that she had been visited by Merrill Nielson and Rita Huber who asked her to transfer her care to Good Shepherd. This patient decided to remain with Heartwood. (R. at 615-16).
- c. Mr. Bippes reported that during the week of October 14, 2012, he observed a Good Shepherd van leaving a Heartwood patient's home as he was coming to visit the patient. The patient stated that she had been approached by a Good Shepherd employee who wanted her to transfer her service. This patient decided to remain with Heartwood. (R. at 616).

Based on the fact that a significant number of Heartwood's patients continued to transfer their care to Good Shepherd after Heartwood's cease and desist letter, Heartwood's attorneys concluded that litigation was needed to stop Ms. Molyneux, Ms. Huber and the other defendants from violating their confidentiality and non-solicitation agreements. (R. at 616). Furthermore, Heartwood and its attorneys agreed that litigation needed to commence immediately in order to stop any further losses to Heartwood from its patients transferring. (*Id.*). Therefore, on Tuesday, October 23, 2012, Heartwood's attorneys drafted a complaint against Ms. Molyneux and Ms. Huber for (i) breach of contract, (ii) breach of the duty of confidentiality, (iii) breach of the duty of loyalty, and (iv) intentional interference with economic relations. (R. at 13, 616).

In a Declaration filed in opposition to defendants' Rule 11 motion, Heartwood's attorney explained why he believed the claims contained in Heartwood's complaint had

both a factual and legal basis such that the complaint complied with the requirements of

#### Rule 11:

- 15. I believe the facts given to me by Mr. Vasic, as outlined above, provided me with an adequate factual and legal basis for the claims against Ms. Molyneux and Ms. Huber, especially in light of the limited amount of time that I had to draft the Complaint.
- 16. With respect to the claim for breach of contract, it was my opinion that the agreement constituted a legal and binding contract because it simply required the defendants to accept certain terms and conditions of their employment with Heartwood. Furthermore, based on the evidence presented to me, I believed a reasonable person could conclude that Ms. Huber and Ms. Molyneux breached their agreements by contacting Heartwood's employees and patients.
- 17. As an alternative to its claim for breach of contract, I also asserted a claim that Ms. Molyneux and Ms. Huber breached a duty of confidentiality owed to Heartwood. This was based on my research of case law stating that "[a] former employee may not use confidential information obtained during the course of his or her employment to compete after termination with his or her former employer." *Envirotech Corp. v. Callahan*, 872 P.2d 487, 496 (Utah App. 1994). Based on the evidence presented to me, I believed a reasonable person could conclude that Ms. Huber and Ms. Molyneux breached this duty of loyalty by using Heartwood's proprietary information, i.e., the names and addresses of its patients, their need for hospice care and their specific medical needs and diagnoses, to contact these patients and persuade them to transfer to Good Shepherd.
- 18. In addition to the foregoing claims, I asserted a claim that Ms. Molyneux and Ms. Huber breached a duty of loyalty owed to Heartwood. In analyzing this duty, courts have held that "an agent is subject to a duty not to compete with the principal concerning the subject matter of his agency." *Prince, Yeates & Geldzahler v. Young,* 2004 UT 26, ¶ 20, 94 P.3d 179. I asserted this claim because it was unclear at the time whether any solicitation of the Heartwood's patients by the defendants occurred before or after the defendants' employment with Heartwood ended. To the extent solicitation occurred during their employment with Heartwood, the duty of loyalty would apply.

- 19. The final claim I asserted against Ms. Huber and Ms. Molyneux was for intentional interference with economic relations. In order to prevail on this claim, Heartwood was required to prove "(1) that the defendant intentionally interfered with the plaintiff's existing or potential economic relations, (2) for an improper purpose or by improper means, (3) causing injury to the plaintiff." Leigh Furniture & Carpet Co. v. Isom, 657 P.2d 293, 304 (Utah 1982). I believed a reasonable person could conclude that Ms. Huber and Ms. Molyneux ... committed this tort by interfering with Heartwood's relationship with its patients and employees through the use of confidential information they obtained only through and during their employment with Heartwood, i.e., the identity of Heartwood's patients and employees, the addresses of Hearwood's patients and the patients' medical needs. Defendants were precluded from using this information by virtue of the duty of confidentiality they owed to Heartwood. I believed there was a sufficient basis to assert this claim.
- 20. As part of their Rule 11 Motion, defendants argue that the claims I asserted on Heartwood's behalf had no legal basis because HIPAA does not create a private right of action. I am familiar with HIPAA and I was aware that HIPAA does not create a private right of action at the time I filed the Complaint. However, Heartwood's claims were not dependent on any alleged violation of HIPAA. Rather, they were based on defendants' decision to contact patients and employees of Heartwood in violation of defendants' employment agreement and their fiduciary duties. Therefore, since the claims were not dependent on HIPAA, it is my legal opinion that they were not barred due to the absence of any statutory private right of action under HIPAA.

(R. at 599-601).

On October 24, 2012, Heartwood commenced this action by causing a copy of the Complaint and Summons to be served on the defendants in accordance with Utah R.Civ. P. 3(a)(2). (R. at 7, 10, 618-19). After the Complaint was served, the flow of patients from Heartwood to Good Shepherd that had been occurring for the previous five days stopped immediately. (R. at 618-19). As such, Heartwood did not seek immediate injunctive relief from the district court as it had originally planned to do. (*Id.*).

## C. Facts Uncovered During Discovery and Presented in Opposition to Defendants' Summary Judgment Motion.

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