Brigham Young University Law School

BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Court of Appeals Briefs (2007-)

2017

HEARTWOOD HOME HEALTH & HOSPICE, LLC,, Plaintiff/ Appellant, vs. RITA HUBER, AND GLENNA MOLYNEUX, Defendants/Appellees.: Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

IV. JURISDICTION

Molyneux and Huber do not contest this court's jurisdiction and concur with Heartwood's statement of jurisdiction.

V. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

Molyneux and Huber believe the issues are better stated as: did the trial court err when it granted summary judgment and did the trial court err when it granted the Rule 11 Utah R. Civ. P. motion and awarded attorneys' fees?

The standard of review for evaluating Rule 11 sanctions involves includes "(1) findings of fact are reviewed under the clearly erroneous standard; (2) legal conclusions are reviewed under the correction of error standard; and (3) the type and amount of sanction to be imposed is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard." *Morse v. Packer*, 1999 UT 5, ¶ 10, 973 P.2d 422

Summary judgment presents questions of law, which are reviewed for correctness.

West v. Thomson Newspapers, 872 P.2d 999, 1004 (Utah 1994).

These issues are reserved for appeal in the memoranda and trial court's respective orders. [R297, 508, 555, 584, 625, 697]

VI. PERTINENT STATUTES AND RULES

Rule 11, Utah R. Civ. P.; Rule 52, Utah R. Civ. P.; Rule 56, Utah R. Civ. P. Each of these is included in Molyneux and Huber's Addendum.

VII. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a civil action whereby Heartwood sought damages and an injunction from Employees after they left its employ and went to work elsewhere.

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS BELOW

This matter was filed in the Third District Court on November 1, 2012. [R 1] During the summer of 2013, the depositions of the parties were taken and the fact discovery cutoff ran on August 12, 2013. [R 38] On October 15, 2013, Molyneux and Huber submitted their Rule 11 Motion to Heartwood's counsel under the safe harbor provision of Rule 11(c)(1)(A). [R 441] On November 8, 2013, Molyneux and Huber filed their Motion for Summary Judgment. [R 297-314].

After briefing and a hearing, the trial court granted Molyneux and Huber's Motion for Summary Judgment and dismissed Heartwood's claims against Molyneux and Huber.

[R 584] See Appellant's Brief at 21. At the hearing on the Motion for Summary

Judgment, Heartwood advised the Court and Molyneux and Huber, for the first time, after

Molyneux and Huber had briefed and prepared argument, that it was dropping all claims against Molyneux and Huber other than the claims that Huber had solicited employees and that Molyneux had solicited patients. [R 585, 1056] See also Appellant's Brief at 21. Molyneux and Huber' Rule 11 Motion was then heard and granted. [R467, 679–684] In ruling on each of the motions the trial court's order contained the court's own multi-page explanation of reasoning as contemplated by Rule 52, Utah R. Civ. P. [R584-590, 679-684]

Heartwood then appealed the Rule 11 ruling to this court. The court held that it did not have jurisdiction over that appeal and that appeal was rejected at *Heartwood Home*Health & Hospice v. Huber, 2016 UT App 183. [R762-770]

After the matter was returned to the trial court, Molyneux and Huber filed a suggestion of death as to Mr. Nielson. [R776] The remaining defendant, Good Shepard Home Care & Hospice, Inc. was dismissed on an order to show cause. [R 978]. Once final orders were entered as to all parties, Heartwood filed this appeal on March 13, 2017. [R985]

C. DISPOSITION BELOW

Heartwood's claims against Employees were dismissed with prejudice and on the merits in response to Employees' Motion for Summary Judgment. [R580] Attorneys' fees were then awarded to Employees in response totheir Rule 11 Motion. [R697]

D. RELEVANT FACTS

During the summer of 2012, Molyneux and Huber worked for Heartwood as a registered nurse (RN) (Huber) and a home health aide (Molyneux). [R14-15] Defendant Merrill Nielson was also employed as an RN. [R15] Prior to filing this action, Heartwood learned that Nielson had left its employ and Heartwood supposedly had video tape of Nielson making photocopies of its records prior to his departure. [R341] Despite Heartwood's promise to produce the video at page 76 of Heartwood's deposition, it was never produced [R341] and there were no substantiated allegations that either Huber or Molyneux took Heartwood records. See Heartwood's Opening Brief at page 24. These were among the allegations Heartwood dismissed during the summary judgment hearing. [R585]

The defendants noticed the deposition of Heartwood under Rule 30(b)(6), Utah R. Civ. P. and the notice advised that the deposition would include questions relating to the allegations of the complaint pertaining to each defendant. [R317-19] In Heartwood's deposition, defense counsel went through the factual allegation paragraphs one at a time and asked Mr. Vasic, Heartwood's president and designated Rule 30(b)(6) witness, about the facts which supported the allegations. These are summarized at [R557-580]. In virtually ever instance, Vasic responded that there were no facts supporting the allegations or that the allegations was just assumptions. [R328-352]

Mr. Vasic further testified that Ms. Molyneux did not recruit Heartwood's patients before she left Heartwood's employ. [R300, 349]. Mr. Vasic's testimony was distilled in

Molyneux and Huber's memorandum supporting their Rule 11 motion to show that in acleast 22 instances he testified that Heartwood had no facts to support key elements of its case. [R557-560]

In the deposition of Heartwood, defense counsel further asked Vasic about the legal basis for its claims and was told they were based on the contracts and on HIPAA. [R345-52].

Molyneux resigned from Heartwood's employ on October 19, 2012. [Appellant's Brief at 15. Huber had left at the end of July. [R403] Anything Molyneux and Huber did which Heartwood claims to form the basis for its complaint occurred after they left Heartwood's employ. Brief page 20.

VIII. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court properly sanctioned Heartwood under Rule 11, Utah R. Civ. P. and awarded attorneys fees against it. By the time the Rule 11, Utah R. Civ. P., Motion was filed, it was clear that the allegations of the complaint made on information and belief had no support. It was further obvious that Heartwood's President had completely undercut virtually every substantive allegation by his deposition testimony in which he stated that there were no facts to support them.

Rule 11 requires counsel and parties to be aware of the support for their allegations and to modify their pleadings and/or other papers when it appears they lack support.

Filing papers which lack support and advocating positions which lack support each

violate Rule 11 Utah R. Civ. P., and may subject offenders to sanctions.

Where a party takes a firm position in its Rule 30(b)(6) Utah R. Civ. P. deposition, it may not undercut that testimony with sham affidavits. There are at least three different points at which a party being deposed may take steps to assure that its testimony is correct. Failing to take advantage of those steps will leave the party bound by its testimony.

Molyneux and Huber were awarded attorneys' fees by the trial court for their efforts in the Motion for Summary Judgment. Because they were awarded attorneys' fees by the trial court they are entitled to attorneys' fees on appeal.

IX. ARGUMENT

A. RULE 11

1. HEARTWOOD MISSTATES THE RULE

At page 37 of Heartwood's Opening Brief, it argues for its interpretation of Rule 11 Utah R. Civ. P. It purports to tell us what the rule says.

"This is because the plain language of Utah's Rule 11 only authorizes sanctions for "presenting" a document in violation of the Rule:

By presenting a pleading ... to the court ... an attorney ... is certifying that to the best of the person's knowledge, information, and belief, formed after an inquiry reasonable under the circumstances ... the allegations and other factual contentions have evidentiary support or, if specifically so identified, are likely to have evidentiary support after a reasonable opportunity for further investigation or discovery. [Emphasis added]

Utah R.Civ. P. 11(b)."

In reality Rule 11(b) Utah R. Civ. P. reads somewhat differently. The introductory portion of Rule 11(b) actually says is the following.

By presenting a pleading, written motion, or other paper to the court (whether by signing, filing, submitting, or advocating), an attorney or unrepresented party is certifying that to the best of the person's knowledge, information, and belief, formed after an inquiry reasonable under the circumstances, [Emphasis added]

The omission of the term "or advocating" by the use of ellipses is not insignificant here. One of the methods by which Molyneux and Huber claim Heartwood violated Rule 11(b) Utah R. Civ. P. was by counsel advocating a baseless position in response to the Motion for Summary Judgment. Submission of the opposing memorandum and counsel's affidavit included signing, filing, submitting and advocating, and thus presenting an "other paper" including advocating the content of that memorandum. Then, arguing, at oral argument, the contents of those documents was an additional instance of advocating.

By the intentional excision of the operative language from Rule 11(b) Utah R. Civ. P. Heartwood has clearly, and intentionally, misstated the law.

2. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY AWARDED DAMAGES UNDER RULE 11

In analyzing Heartwood's arguments on Rule 11, it helps to consider the state of the litigation at the time the Motion was heard by the trial judge.

a. Heartwood had filed a complaint in which a number of its allegations were

¹The use of counsel's affidavit raises the question of whether he is now barred from representing Heartwood by the provisions of Rule 3.7 Utah R. Prof'l Conduct.

pled on "information and belief." [R16-19]

- b. Heartwood's counsel had sat through the depositions of Molyneux and Huber where they had denied stealing clients or Heartwood's employees. [R394, 417]
- c. Heartwood's President had testified adversely to his cause on at least 25 substantive points. [R557-560]
- d. The damaging testimony of Heartwood's President had not been corrected or softened as allowed by Rule 30(e), Utah R. Civ. P. [R322-355]
- e. Molyneux and Huber's counsel had sent Heartwood's counsel a Rule 11

 Motion availing his clients of the 21 day safe harbor provision of the rule, asking that

 Molyneux and Huber be dismissed from the suit and advising that a Summary Judgment

 Motion would follow unless Heartwood dismissed Molyneux and Huber. [R1106]

Notwithstanding this background, Heartwood takes the position that it needed to do nothing because it thought it had a case a year before when it filed suit.

The thrust of Heartwood's position is that once a complaint is filed which minimally meets Rule 11's standard, a party and its counsel are free from Rule 11's obligations regardless of what happens thereafter. Heartwood's position ignores the language of the rule and its interpreting case law. Rule 11(b) Utah R. Civ. P. describes the scope of the rule as "... presenting a pleading, written motion, or other paper to the court (whether by signing, filing, submitting, or advocating)..." Filing a complaint is not the sole triggering event. Filing any pleading, written motion, or "other paper" suffices. In

this case those "other papers' certainly include Plaintiff's Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants Motion for Summary Judgment (R464), and other various papers signed by Heartwood's counsel thereafter. After the Vasic Rule 30(b)(6) deposition, Heartwood's counsel was aware of the complete lack of evidence to support Heartwood's claims, and it became his obligation to dismiss the complaint against Molyneux and Huber or deal with the consequences.

The determination of whether an action violates Rule 11 is an objective inquiry *Riccard v. Prudential Ins. Co.*, 307 F.3d 1277, 1294 (11th Cir. 2002); *Kaplan v. DaimlerChrysler, A.G.*, 331 F.3d 1251, 1255 (11th Cir. Fla. 2003). Heartwood's counsel's view that he thought all was well is insufficient. Another competent lawyer and/or judge would also need to be believe the case could survive. The trial judge here did not.

Heartwood's argument also focuses on the time at which the Rule 11 motion was submitted. See Heartwood's opeining brief at 34-35. The relevant date for this discussion is the date on which Heartwood's right to amend its deposition answers ran which was September 19, 2013. [R322] Heartwood received Molyneux and Huber's Rule 11 Motion on October 15th [R563]. ²

Heartwood suggests its actions were reasonable in light of the limited time it had

²Heartwood's discussion about the timing of the Rule 11 Motion is contained at pages 34-35 of its Opening Brief. The timing of the Rule 11 Motion was not raised before the trial court and has not been reserved for appeal. [R602-620]

to prepare the complaint in order to stop the transfer of its clients. Again, the correct time to consider was October 15, 2013. The complaint in this matter was filed on November 1, 2012. Heartwood's Rule 30(b)(6) Utah R. Civ. P. deposition was taken on August 22, 2013. Heartwood had almost two full months to digest the testimony its president had given on its behalf. Heartwood made no corrections to the deposition during the 28 days allowed by Rule 30(e), Utah R. Civ. P. [R322]

3. UTAH 11 RULE SUPPORTS MOLYNEUX AND HUBER

Federal Advisory Committee notes on 1993 amendments previously suggested; "[o]rdinarily the motion should be served promptly after the inappropriate paper is filed, and, if delayed too long, may be viewed as untimely." Utah's version of Rule 11 tracks the federal rule. This clearly shows that signing post-complaint papers may be the basis for a motion.

The note to the federal 1993 amendment addressed this issue further.

The certification with respect to allegations and other factual contentions is revised in recognition that sometimes a litigant may have good reason to believe that a fact is true or false but may need discovery, formal or informal, from opposing parties or third persons to gather and confirm the evidentiary basis for the allegation. Tolerance of factual contentions in initial pleadings by plaintiffs or defendants when specifically identified as made on information and belief does not relieve litigants from the obligation to conduct an appropriate investigation into the facts that is reasonable under the circumstances; it is not a license to join parties, make claims, or present defenses without any factual basis or justification.

Moreover, if evidentiary support is not obtained after a reasonable opportunity for further investigation or discovery, the party has a duty under the rule not to persist with that contention. [emphasis added].

Other coarts which have addressed this issue also take the position advocated by Molyneux and Huber.

[The duty to press only valid claims] ... does not end when the pleadings are filed. Rather, the plaintiff is impressed with a continuing responsibility to review and reevaluate his pleadings and where appropriate modify them to conform to Rule 11. In other words, the Rule imposes on litigants a continuing duty of candor, and a litigant may be sanctioned for continuing to insist upon a position that is no longer tenable. [citations omitted] *Shirvell v. Gordon*, 602 Fed. Appx. 601, 604-605 (6th Cir. Mich. 2015).

. . .

In *Herron v. Jupiter Transp. Co.*, 858 F.2d 332, 335-36 (6th Cir. 1988), this court stated that the reasonable inquiry under Rule 11 is not a one-time obligation. The plaintiff is impressed with a continuing responsibility to review and reevaluate his pleadings and where appropriate modify them to conform to Rule 11.

Heartwood's argument is significantly weakened by the fact that virtually all of its cited cases and treatises were decided prior to the 1993 amendment to Federal Rule 11. The compiler's note to Utah Rule 11 states that the Utah rule is substantially similar to its federal counterpart. The committee comment to the 1993 amendment to the federal rule, which presumptively applies to the Utah rule, provides: "It also, however, emphasizes the duty of candor by subjecting litigants to potential sanctions for insisting upon a position after it is no longer tenable and by generally providing protection against sanctions if they withdraw or correct contentions after a potential violation is called to their attention." [Emphasis added] Heartwood's pre-1993 cases are irrelevant to this discussion.

Rule 11 is invoked "[b]y presenting a pleading, written motion, or other paper to

the court (whether by signing, filing, submitting, or advocating) ..." Rule 11(b) Utah R. Civ. P. Heartwood's response to the Motion for Summary Judgment was by way of other papers which were signed asserting the legal and factual substance of Heartwood's position in response to the Rule 56, Utah R. Civ. P. Motion. Thereafter, Heartwood's counsel appeared and argued against summary judgment even though his client had testified there were no facts to support its claims. *Phonometrics, Inc. v. Economy Inns of Am.*, 349 F.3d 1356, 1362 (Fed. Cir. 2003). (advocating an unsupported position is a violation of Rule 11(b)). *Phonometrics* further notes the change in the standard arising from the 1993 amendment. *Id* at 1362.

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